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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

URANIUM PROJECTS, NAMIBIA
During the year, Metals Australia Ltd (“Metals” - ASX: MLS) continued exploration for uranium mineralisation
at its Mile 72 (EPL 3308) Project in Namibia, southern Africa (Figure 1).
Previous exploration by the Company yielded positive exploration results. Follow-up exploration took place in
December 2012. A high- resolution airborne geophysical survey was undertaken that allowed a new highly
detailed interpretation of the geology to be generated.
The combined work to date has highlighted the potential of the project to host high-tonnage moderate grade
primary uranium deposits of a similar style to the Rössing and Husab mines to the south. The Company
selected a set of high priority targets during the year and commenced an RC drilling program in September.

LICENCE RENEWALS
The Company has submitted applications for, and is expecting to receive, extensions to its Mile 72 (EPL
3308) and Engo Valley (EPL 3306) licences. Applications were lodged with the Ministry of Mines and Energy
in March 2013 to extend both licences for a further two years.
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THE MILE 772 URANIUM PROJECT
T
High-Reso
olution Geo
ophysics completed
c
The Mile 7
72 Uranium
m Project is
s an explorration
project on tthe coast of Namibia, no
orth of the c ity of
Swakopmun
nd (Figure 1). Some of the wo
orld’s
highest ura
anium gradess were recorded in outccrops
and in shalllow pits within the proje
ect licence a
area.
This high g
grade surface
e enrichment, combined with
new detaile
ed geophysiccal data and
d interpretattions,
have encou
uraged Meta
als to enter a new phasse of
exploration at Mile 72
2, targeting a large pri mary
uranium deposit of a sim
milar style to the Rössing
g and
Husab mine
es to the south.
highDuring the year, the Company
C
co
ompleted a h
resolution a
airborne mag
gnetic surve
ey at the pro
oject.
The survey was conduccted at 50 metre
m
line spa
acing
and flown at an altitu
ering
ude of 30 metres,
m
cove
3,655.5 line
e kilometres.
The surve
ey has pro
ovided the Company with
excellent high-resolutio
on magnetic and radiom
metric
imagery of the subsurfa
ace geology at Mile 72. This
information has been used to plan a deeper drrilling
program to test for primary Rössin
ng-style ura nium
mineralisation.

New Data Strongly Supports
S
Previous
P
Wo
Work
The geophyysical surveyy has provided the Com pany
ment
with highly detailed sup
pporting data
a to complem
the existing
g geochemiccal, radiometric (radon ccup),
trenching and shallow drilling
d
sampling data alrready
obtained alo
ong the Kudu
u-Impala Zon
ne at the Mile
e 72 Project..

Figure 1 – The Mile 72 prooject area (EPL3308).

The Compa
any has prevviously reporrted surface sampling results from th
he Kudu-Imppala area witth grades ass
high as 13,9
912 ppm U3O8. Sample Intervals of cclose to 300 m in length, recorded avverage assays in excesss
of 900 ppm U3O8.
A shallow d
drilling progra
am conducte
ed in March 2012 targete
ed near-surface calcretee-hosted dep
posits at Mile
e
72. A prima
ary objective
e of the 2012
2 drilling wa
as to determ
mine whether the uranium
m was introd
duced to the
e
Kudu-Impala area throu
ugh ancient drainage cha
annels or fro
om a deeper source on the licence area. Whilstt
calcrete-hossted depositts were not identified, assay results were enc
couraging. B
Bottom-of-ho
ole sampling
g
identified a
anomalous uranium
u
min
neralisation up to 324p
ppm. The drilling, whilee shallow, provided
p
the
e
Company w
with the supp
porting inform
mation to co
ontinue explo
oration targe
eting primaryy Rössing-Sttyle uranium
m
mineralisation.
2, a high-resolution airbo
orne magnettic survey wa
as completeed over the project
p
area..
During Deccember 2012
The new ge
eophysical data provides
s strong add itional suppo
ort for a prim
mary Rössingg style of miineralisation..
The airborn
ne radiomettric signature (uranium only signall, Figure 2) and the hhigh-resolutio
on magneticc
signature (m
magnetic low
ws correspon
nding to pote
ential alaskite
e units, Figure 3), show direct spatia
al correlation
n
with the known high-grrade minerallised zones at Mile 72 in
i areas of outcropping or subcropp
ping schists,,
granites and
d alaskites. Some
S
of thes
se zones are
e evident eve
en in areas of thin basalticc cover.
a Mile 72 occcurs as seco
ondary carnotite within gyypcrete.
Uranium mineralisation on surface at
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Exploratio
on insights
s to-date su
upport furth
her drilling
g


The area has an
a equivalent propensi ty to
generate alaskittes (the ho
osts to ura
anium
minerralisation) ass the “Alaskitte Alley” area
a that
conta
ains Rössing and Husab (Figure 4).



The updated interpretation of the geo
ology
based
d on the rece
ently acquire
ed high-resollution
geophysical data confirms tha
at a large arrea of
the liccence is und
derlain by the
e target sequ
uence
of Da
amaran schissts, granites and alaskitess.



Exten
nsive areas of low ma
agnetic resp
ponse
have been identtified through
hout the lice
ence.
There
e is a well-known correlation betw
ween
magn
netic lows and
a
the pres
sence of ala
askite
units elsewhere in
n the Damaran sequence
e and
the “Alaskite Alley”
A
of western
w
Nam
mibia.
Alaskkites have be
een identifie
ed in outcrop
p and
trenching at Mile
e 72, and in
nterpreted in
n the
subsu
urface from the
t magnetic
c lows (Figurre 3).
These areas sho
ow a directt correlation with
areass of surface uranium
u
mineralisation.

Figu
ure 2 – Several target areas h
have been defined in a broad
d
n the south o
of the licence (white, cross-zone in
hatched
d). The targetss are defined on numerous
s
criteria, including g eology, and magnetic and
d
he licence area
a
radiometric responsee. Shown on th
urface geocheemical resultts and high-are su
resolution radiometriccs.



It is cclear that ura
anium concen
ntrated at su
urface
at Ku
udu-Impala must be so
ourced from
m the
ment sequence within the
basem
t
licence area,
and h
has not been
n transported in from ou
utside
the licence area
a. This is illlustrated byy the
uranium radiometrics (Figure
e 2) which cllearly
show
w U highs (se
een as yellow
w-red shadess) associated
d with basem
ment outcropps, cross-cut by drainage
e
chann
nels with a very
v
low signature (seen a
as green-blu
ue shades).



Surfa
ace anomalissm of uranium
m is controlle
ed by numero
ous features, and is influ enced by the
e distribution
n
of latte-stage dyke
es at Mile 72
2. Through vvarious proce
esses, these
e dykes havee the effect of
o potentiallyy
ng the anom
maly relative to the locattion of the original
o
uranium source. Each anom
maly is being
g
shiftin
assesssed for the likelihood an
nd degree of offset.
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Figurre 3 – Aeroma
agnetics image
e (analytical signal)
s
showin
ng the high leevel of
detail provided
p
by th
he new geophy
ysical data. Th
his and many other
manipulations of the geophysical data
d
have been
n used to deteermine
the disttributions of va
arious magnetic units.

ation activiity
Forthcoming explora
The Compa
any has devveloped a se
eries of imm ediate targe
ets from the interpretatioon of new da
ata collected
d
during the yyear. These consist of areas
a
where deeper drilling can test the Damaraan schist-gra
anite-alaskite
e
sequence w
where this co
orrelates with the best surrface and rad
diometric res
sults.
The Compa
any is currently conductin
ng a 4,000m RC drill prog
gram in whic
ch forty drill hholes are pla
anned to testt
up to a deptth of approximately 85m below the su
urface.
The program
m is designe
ed to locate deep-seated
d Rössing-sty
yle alaskite-h
hosted uraniium mineralisation in the
e
southern pa
art of the Mille 72 licence
e area. Succcess will be measured
m
on
n the basis oof extended intercepts off
significant u
uranium min
neralisation, which in thiss context wo
ould be several metress in excess of 150ppm
m
U3O8.
On the succcessful completion of th
his program, a series of follow-up prrograms will be required to infill and
d
expand upo
on any interce
epts encountered.
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Exploratio
on Licence and Envirronmental P
Permit
In accorda
ance with Namibian law, the
Company has subm
mitted the required
documentattion to the Namibian Ministry of
Mines and Energy for the
t
renewal of the Mile
72 licence, EPL3308.
The Ministryy has acknow
wledged the Company’s
early submiission of the application for renewal
and will advvise further in
n due course
e.
In the Com
mpany’s view
w, Metals Au
ustralia has
met or exce
eeded all requirements for ongoing
exploration of the licen
nce area, an
nd foresees
no impediments to the renew
wal of the
exploration licence.
In August 2013, the company received a
renewal of tthe environm
mental permit it required
before drilling could commence. Th
he permit is
valid for a p
period of thre
ee years.

Figure 4 – Areas exhibitiing prime geollogical conditiions for the
genesis of alaskites. M
Mile 72 had the same
s those experiienced at Husa
ab, Rossing
conditions as
and Valencia
a. (Red = peeak conditions
s ideal for
genesis of ala
askite. Pink = p
peak condition
ns exceeded
required conditions but areea still hosts potential
p
for
alaskites.)

ENGO VALLEY URA
ANIUM PRO
OJECT
The Engo V
Valley Projecct (Figure 5)) comprises
a series of uranium ano
omalies expo
osed in and
adjacent to Karoo sedim
mentary rocks
s.
The projectt is located around
a
600 km
k north of
Swakopmun
nd, on the
e Skeleton Coast of
northern N
Namibia. The
e licence falls in the
Skeleton C
Coast National Park. In July 2012,
Metals rece
eived an En
nvironmental Clearance
and Accesss Permit allowing
a
exp
ploration to
proceed in tthe area.
An extensio
on applicatio
on was lodg
ged prior to
the expiry of the licen
nce in June 2013. The
delay in gra
anting of the
e environme
ental permit
was the rea
ason for the limited work carried out
ment. The Company
on the tenem
C
now
w awaits the
decision o
of the Ministry on th
he licence
extension.

Figure 5 – The Engo Valley licence areea (EPL3306) and
a surrounds

Reviiew of Operations
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BASE MEETAL PRO
OJECTS, WESTER N AUSTR
RALIA
Metalss currently holds
h
an inte
erest in two base metal projects in
n
Weste rn Australia (Figure 6). The Maninddi zinc projec
ct is located
d
around
d 500 km no
ortheast of Perth
P
and iss being explored with a
view tto expandin
ng the existting resourcces and exa
amining the
e
projectt's copper po
otential.
The Sh
herlock Bay base metal joint
j
venturee project is lo
ocated in the
e
Pilbara
a region and is being ma
anaged and eexplored by Australasian
n
Resou
urces Ltd (AR
RH). The pro
oject surrounnds ARH’s Sherlock
S
Bayy
nickel deposit.
MANIN
NDI ZINC PR
ROJECT
The M
Manindi zinc
c project is a significannt base mettal resource
e
located
d in the Murchison District of Weestern Australia, 20 km
m
southw
west of the de
efunct Youan
nmi gold minne.

Figure 6 - Loccation of the Western
W
Australian
ba
ase metals proje
ects

During
g the year, th
he Company
y continued to review the
e potential off
the pro
oject to yield new copperr and nickel m
mineralisatio
on in addition
n
to the existing zinc
c-copper res
sources at thhe project. In
n April 2013,,
Sirius Resources released a series of ppositive announcementss
from iits Inky Cu
u-Ni Prospect (see Figgure 7 and
d the Siriuss
Resou
urces NL ann
nouncement of
o 2 April 20113). The Inky
y prospect iss
located
d 1 km soutth of the lice
ence boundaary of Metalls’ M57/533,,
just 2 km south of
o the Meta
als Wombat Cu-Ni soil and VTEM
M
anoma
alies, and 6.2
25 km SE of the Manindi Zn-Cu-Au-A
Ag Resource..

A review of VTEM and geochemistry
g
y targets con
ntinues. The work to date
e indicates thhe potential to
t locate Cu-Ni mineralissation in the ultramafic an
nd gabbroic rrocks contain
ned in the Ma
anindi sequeence.
Metals has identified se
even untested
d geophysica
al anomalies
s adjacent to the known m
mineralisation at Manindii
which constitute a num
mber of attractive new drrill targets fo
or copper-zin
nc and coppper-nickel miineralisation..
Copper-rich
h VMS depossit discoverie
es such as S
Sandfire’s Do
oolgunna Project and Cuu-Ni discoveries such ass
Sirius’ Nova
a deposit have been found utilising ssimilar geoph
hysical techn
niques in thee recent past. Manindi iss
located with
hin a known mineralised
m
terrane
t
with significant upside potential for furtherr base metals discovery.
Planning ha
as commenced for additio
onal program
ms at Manind
di, including new soil sam
mpling progra
ams focused
d
on the identification of copper
c
and nickel, as we
ell as startin
ng a detailed review of thhe resource estimate forr
Ag mineralisa
ation.
the Manindii Zn-Cu-Au-A

Manindi E
Existing Resources
The Manind
di base meta
al deposit is
s a volcanog
genic massiv
ve sulphide zinc
z
depositt, comprising
g a series off
lenses of m
mineralisation
n that have been folded, ssheared, fau
ulted, and po
ossibly intrud ed by later dolerites
d
and
d
gabbros. Th
he style of mineralisation
m
n is similar tto other base
e metal sulp
phide depositts in the Yilg
garn Craton,,
particularly Golden Gro
ove to the west
w
of Man
nindi at Yalg
goo, and Te
eutonic Boree-Jaguar in the Eastern
n
Goldfields.
In 2008, Me
etals delinea
ated a resourrce that com
mplied with alll JORC requ
uirements att that time. The
T resource
e
(at a 1% Zin
nc cutoff) wa
as calculated to be:
1.354 million tonnes @ 6.04% Zin
nc, 0.25% Co
opper, 3.4 g/tt Silver & 0.225 g/t Gold
With chang
ges to JORC reporting criteria, the
e Company will review
w the historiccal resource
e to ensure
e
compliance.
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Figure 7 - EM and Geochemistry targ
gets at Manindi showing
s
location of Inky Prospeect (Sirius Reso
ources)

SHERLOCK
K BAY EXTEN
NDED BASEE METAL PRO
OJECT
The Sherlock Bay Exte
ended projec
ct is compossed of two Exploration
E
Licences
L
(E447/1769 and
d E47/1770),,
which surro
ound the main Sherlock Bay
B nickel de
eposit (wholly
y owned by Australasian
A
Resources Ltd - ‘ARH’)..
The projectt is located between
b
Roe
ebourne and
d Whim Cree
ek in the We
estern Pilbarra and is pro
ospective forr
nickel, copp
per, silver and
a
gold mineralisation. Known deposits within
n the regionn include; Sherlock Bayy
(Ni,Cu), Balla Balla (Fe
e,Ti,V & P), plus the Sal t Creek, Ballla Balla and
d Whim Creeek base mettals depositss
(Cu,Zn,Pb)..
The project is a joint ven
nture betwee
en ARH (70%
% interest) an
nd Metals (30% interest)). ARH are th
he managerss
of the proje
ect, with Metals being ‘fre
ee-carried’ th
hrough to the completion
n of a bankaable feasibilitty study and
d
the decision
n to commen
nce commerc
cial mining.
A sampling program, which
w
was based on a ccombination of information generateed by hypers
spectral and
d
topographicc surveys and
d past biogeochemical a ssay data, was
w complete
ed during thee last reportin
ng year. The
e
program inccluded samp
pling on all te
enements in the Sherlock
k Bay and Sherlock Bay Extended project areas..
A total of 20
0 target areas have been identified fo
or follow-up.
ARH also u
undertook an
n extensive vegetation
v
sa
ampling prog
gram across tenements making up the
t Sherlockk
Bay Extend
ded Project. ARH has requested
r
th at their cons
sultant review and interppret the assa
ay results in
n
conjunction with existing hyperspec
ctral and top
pography datta, and in co
ombination w
with historic data. Assayy
results were
e received in the first halff of 2013, an d an interpre
etation completed.
The interpre
etive work ha
as identified seven areass of interest shown on Figure 8 and T
Table 1. Thirrteen targetss
where furth
her exploration is warra
anted were identified on
o the JV tenements. T
The interpre
etation gave
e
significant cconsideration
n to specific elements tha
at might be most
m
signific
cant in determ
mining areas
s of potentiall
economic m
mineralisation
n.

Reviiew of Operations
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Figure 8- Area
as of explorato
ory interest sett against 1:250
0,000 topograph
hy data (red ov
val indicates Sh
herlock deposit)

Targetted Anoma
alism

Nickel

Prospective
Areas

Prospective Ten
nement
Area
Subgro
oup

Area
a1

A1.1
A1.2
A1.3
A2.1
A2.2
A7.1
A7.2

Area
a2
Area
a7
Gold
Pllatinoid
Tiitanium

Area
a8
Area
a9
Area
a 10
Area
a 11
Area
a 12

E47
7/1770
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1769
E47
7/1769
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1769
E47
7/1769
E47
7/1770
E47
7/1770

Table 1 - Total
T
areas of exploratory intterest (note Ti is often elevated in areas of interest for Nic
ckel)

The co
onsultant to ARH has re
ecommended
d further geo
ochemical and biogeochhemical sam
mpling in
order to
o better defin
ne targets ide
entified throu
ughout the arrea covering the joint vennture teneme
ents.
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GOLD P ROJECTSS, VICTO RIA
Metals hold
ds two low impact exp
ploration
western Victtoria (Figure 9). The
licences in w
(EL5242))
St
Arnau
ud
South
and
Wedderburn
n (EL5243)) projects contain
significant historic wo
orkings tha
at have
received liittle modern and sys
stematic
exploration..
The Victoria
an Goldfieldss were discov
vered in
the gold rushes of the mid-1800s, with all
significant g
gold mining activity cea
asing by
1930. Govvernment re
ecords sho
ow that
numerous gold prosp
pects, mine
es and
occurrencess are docu
umented witthin the
licence area
as.
F
Figure 9 – Location of the Wedderburn
W
annd South Arna
aud projects in
n
estern Victoria. Yellow dots represent gold
d deposits and
d
we
pro
ospects, and the
eir distribution hhighlights the rich gold belts off
Vic
ctoria.

EL5242 St A
Arnaud Sou
uth – Percyd
dale Fault Zo
one
Previous wo
ork on EL 52
242 is focuse
ed on workin
ngs hosted by
b the Percyd
dale Fault Zoone, which is
s a sheared,,
altered zone
e of strong deformation
d
that is up to 500 metres wide. The fault zone witthin the licen
nce containss
regular nortthwest strikin
ng, west-dipp
ping zones tthat show a strong association with gold mineralisation. The
e
Company h
has focused on the Saiilor-Greenocck-Federal trrend of mine
eralisation aas a potentia
al significantt
exploration target.
Discrete veins within this zone have
e exhibited h
high grade gold mineralis
sation over sshort strike le
engths of 50
0
to 100 metrres. Grades have typica
ally been in tthe range off 10 to 30 g//t Au, and h igh values of
o lead, zinc,,
copper, and
d silver have
e been asso
ociated with the gold miineralisation at various llocations thrroughout the
e
area.

Large tonn
nage, mod
derate grad
de gold pote
ential
Historical exploration in
n the region was for low
w tonnage, high
h
grade gold
g
depositss. A review of that workk
shows that a series of small high-g
grade bodiess were identified (3,000-10,000t rangge), but the potential forr
larger, lowe
er grade disse
eminated go
old mineralisa
ation in the area
a
was not considered.
Reappraisal of the historical work indicates the
ere is potential for a 10 to 20 metree wide, mod
derate grade
e
shear zone
e to exist be
etween hang
ging wall and
d footwall fa
ault structure
es in the ELL area (Nortth Percydale
e
Block).
Work by Me
etals has sho
own rock chip samples ffrom the Gre
eenock mine area returneed in excess
s of 3 g/t Au..
The length a
and orientation of these zones
z
is pressently unkno
own but will be
b subject to further work
k.
Competent Pe
erson Declaration
n
The information in this report th
hat relates to Explloration Targets, E
Exploration Results, Mineral Resou
urces or Ore Resserves is based on information
Dr Matthew Painte
er, who is a mem
mber of The Austtralasian Institute of Geoscientists. Dr Painter is a full time consulta
ant to Metals
compiled by D
Australia Limite
ed and has sufficie
ent experience tha
at is relevant to thhe style of mineralisation and type of
o deposit under coonsideration and to
t the activity
that he is unde
ertaking to qualify as
a a Competent Person
P
as defined in the 2012 Editio
on of the “Australa
asian Code for Reeporting of Explora
ation Results,
Mineral Resou
urce and Ore Resserves”. Dr Painte
er consents to thee inclusion in the report of the matters based on hiis information in the
t form and
context in whicch it appears.
Forward-Look
king Statements
This documentt may include forw
ward-looking statements. Forward--looking statemen
nts include, but are not limited to, statements concerning Metals
Australia Ltd’s planned exploration program and
d other statementts that are not historical facts. Wh
hen used in this document, the words
w
such as
"could," "plan,"" "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may”, "potential," "sshould," and similar expressions are forward-lookingg statements. Although Metals
Australia Ltd believes that its expectations refflected in these fforward-looking statements
s
are re
easonable, such statements involve risks and
uncertainties and no assurance can be given that actual results willl be consistent witth these forward-lo
ooking statementss.
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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Metals Australia Ltd and its
controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2013.
DIRECTORS
The following were Directors of Metals Australia Ltd during the financial year (with the exception of Mr
Clemen who died in July 2012) and up to the date of this report:
Hersh Solomon Majteles (Chairman)
David Zukerman
Alexander Clemen (until 23 Jul 2012)
Michael Scivolo (appointed 23 July 2012) to fill the vacancy arising from the death of Mr Clemen.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity are the exploration of mineral deposits and
investment.
RESULTS
The loss of the Group for the financial year after providing for income tax amounted to $778,916 (2012:
$1,178,651).
DIVIDENDS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no dividend has been declared or paid by the Company.
FINANCIAL POSITION
The net assets of the group have decreased by $858,556 from $7,663,517 at 30 June 2012 to $6,804,961 at
30 June 2013.
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
There have not been any significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year,
other than as noted in this financial report.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The Group will continue to focus on its exploration and investment activities.
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY
(a)

Qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of Directors:(i)

Hersh Solomon Majteles LLB
Mr Majteles is a commercial lawyer and has been in private practice in Western Australia since
1972. He has been a board member of a number of publicly listed companies involved in the
mining, resources, energy and biotech sectors for over twenty five years. Mr Majteles is also a
Director of Blaze International Ltd, Prime Minerals Ltd, Power Resources Ltd, and Chairman of
Promesa Limited.

(ii)

Alexander Clemen B.Sc (Hons), FAusIMM
Mr Clemen was a Director until 23 July 2012 and was a qualified geologist with over thirty years
experience practising in this field. He worked for several large international mining companies
in various parts of the world and gained experience in exploring for gold, base metals, industrial
minerals and diamonds. During the past three years he served as a Director of Golden Deeps
Limited and Sabre Resources Ltd.

Directors’ Report
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(iii)

David Zukerman
Mr Zukerman has an accounting and finance background. He has held a number of public
company directorships in Australia and Asia during the past twenty five years. During the past
three years he has served as a Director of Golden Deeps Limited and Sabre Resources Ltd.

(iv)

Michael Scivolo B. Com, FCPA
Mr Scivolo has extensive experience in the fields of accounting and taxation in both corporate
and non-corporate entities and was appointed as a Director on 23 July 2012 and elected at the
Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30 November 2012. He is also a Director of South East
Asia Resources Ltd (formerly Victory West Metals Ltd), Blaze International Ltd, Prime Minerals
Ltd, Power Resources Ltd, Sabre Resources Ltd and Golden Deeps Limited.

(b)

The Company Secretary was in office for the entire period, and his qualifications and experience are
as follows:Norman Grafton FCIS, FCSA
Mr Grafton has extensive experience in both Australian and international commerce, having
previously been based in Singapore, Papua New Guinea and Jamaica. Prior to returning to
Australia, he was Director of Finance and Company Secretary of the largest agro-industrial
operation in Jamaica, on secondment from a major UK firm of corporate managers.

(c)

Relevant interests of Directors in shares and options of the Company at the date of this report:Name

Ordinary Shares

Options

2,950,000
-

25,000

H S Majteles
D Zukerman
M Scivolo
(d)

Directors' interest in contracts:No Director has an interest, whether directly or indirectly, in a contract or proposed contract with the
Company.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
2013
Key Management
Personnel

H S Majteles

Short-term Benefits

Superannuation

Share-based
Payment
Options

Total

$

$
32,700

Directors
Fees

Consulting
Fees

$

$

30,000

2,700

-

A Clemen

4,750

-

-

-

4,750

M Scivolo

11,283

-

1,015

-

12,298

D Zukerman

-

14,572

5,240

-

19,812

K Munro

-

26,000

-

-

26,000

V Algar (from October 2012)

-

41,935

-

-

41,935

N Grafton

-

35,512

4,983

-

40,495

46,033

118,019

13,938

-

177,990

TOTAL

Directors’ Report
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2012
Key Management
Personnel

Short-term Benefits

Superannuation

Share-based
Payment
Options

Total

$

$

Directors
Fees

Consulting
Fees

$

$

H S Majteles

58,344

-

61,044

12,000

99,250

2,700

A Clemen

-

-

111,250

D Zukerman

-

7,440

9,383

-

16,823

K Munro

-

197,000

-

59,000

256,000

N Grafton

-

28,236

9,240

-

37,476

70,344

331,926

21,323

59,000

482,593

TOTAL

No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any
share issue of any other body corporate.
Directors receive a fixed fee (plus statutory superannuation where appropriate), with executive directors
being remunerated for any professional service conducted for the Company. Directors did not receive any
benefits in the form of share-based payments during the year under review.
There are no retirement schemes for any directors or any loans or any other type of compensation.
Board policy on the remuneration for this exploration Company is influenced by comparing fees paid to
directors in other companies within the exploration industry, and then set at a level to attract qualified people,
to accept the responsibilities of Directorship. No Director, executive or employee has an employment
contract.
Being an exploration company, with no earnings, a relationship is yet to be established between an
emolument policy and the Company’s performance. During the year the Company did not engage
remuneration consultants to review its existing remuneration policies.
At the last AGM shareholders voted to adopt the remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2012. The
Company did not receive specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices.
END OF REMUNREATION REPORT
ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT IN OPTIONS
There was no movement of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each Company Director
during the reporting period, as detailed below, and no options were granted to Directors during the year
under review.
MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company's Directors held during the year ended
30 June 2013 and the number of meetings attended by each Director.
Name
H S Majteles
M Scivolo
D Zukerman

Eligible to attend
6
5
6

Directors’ Report

Attended
6
5
6
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The Company does not have a formally appointed audit committee as all Directors are involved in all
activities of the Company and the size and scope of operations does not warrant its formation.
RETIREMENT, ELECTION AND CONTINUATION IN OFFICE OF DIRECTORS
Mr Zukerman retired by rotation as a Director at the Annual General Meeting on 30 November 2012 and was
re-elected.
Mr Scivolo, who was appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the death of Mr Clemen on the 23 July 2012, was
elected as a Director at the Annual General Meeting on 30 November 2012.
At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Mr Majteles retires by rotation as a Director and offers himself
for re-election.
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The Company's objective is to ensure that a high standard of environmental care is achieved and maintained
on all properties. There are no known environmental issues outstanding.
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
On 2 September 2013, the Company placed 50,000,000 shares at 1 cent each to raise $500,000. These
monies will be used to fund the Company’s ongoing exploration, including the drilling program at its Mile 72
uranium prospect in Namibia, and also to provide additional working capital. In addition, 50,000,000 unlisted
options were granted at a cost of 0.01 cents per option. These options are exercisable at 2 cents each at any
time up to their expiry on 31 August 2016.
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected
or could significantly affect the operations of the consolidated group, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the consolidated group in future financial years.
INDEMNIFYING OFFICER OR AUDITORS
No indemnities have been given, or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year,
for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the entity.
OPTIONS
As at the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Metals Australia Ltd under option are as follows:
Grant Date

Listed/Unlisted

15 September 2011
20 January 2012

Listed
Unlisted
Unlisted
Unlisted
Unlisted

29 February 2012
22 March 2012
22 March 2012

ASX
Code
MLSO
MLSAI
MLSAI
MLSAI
MLSAM

Date of expiry
30 September 2013
1 December 2013
1 December 2013
1 December 2013
14 November 2013

Exercise Number under
Price
option
$0.02
163,665,000
$0.05
14,881,579
$0.05
19,905,405
$0.05
28,983,783
$0.04
6,000,000

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests in the company
or any other entity.
There have been no unissued shares or interest under option of any controlled entity within the group during
or since the reporting date.
For details of options issued to directors and executives as remuneration, refer to Remuneration Report.
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PROCEEDIINGS ON BE
EHALF OF THE
T
COMPA
ANY
No person h
has applied for leave of court to brin g proceeding
gs on behalff of the Com pany or intervene in anyy
proceedingss to which the
t
Compan
ny is a partyy for the pu
urpose of taking responnsibility on behalf
b
of the
e
Company fo
or all or any part
p of those
e proceedingss.
AUDITOR’S
S INDEPEND
DENCE DEC
CLARATION
N
A copy of th
he independent auditor’s
s declaration as required by section 307c
3
of the C
Corporations
s Act 2001 iss
set out on p
page 47.
RS' BENEFIT
TS
DIRECTOR
Except as d
detailed in no
ote 6, no Dirrector of the Company ha
as received or become eentitled to re
eceive during
g
or since the
e end of the previous fin
nancial year, any benefitt (other than a benefit inncluded in the aggregate
e
amounts off emolumentts received or
o due and receivable by
b Directors shown in thhe accounts or the fixed
d
salary of a full time emp
ployee of the
e Company o
or of a relate
ed corporatio
on) by reasoon of a contra
act made byy
the Company or a related corporattion with the
e Director or with a firm of which hee is a memb
ber or with a
company in which he ha
as a substantial financial interest.
AUDIT COM
MMITTEE
No Audit Co
as been form
med as the D
Directors believe that the
e Company iis not of a size
s
to justifyy
ommittee ha
having a se
eparate Aud
dit Committe
ee. Given th
he small size
e of the Board, the Dirrectors believe an Auditt
Committee structure to be inefficientt.
NON AUDIT
T SERVICES
S
The Board o
of Directors, is satisfied that
t
the provvision of non--audit service
es during thee year is com
mpatible with
h
the general standard off independen
nce for audito
ors imposed by the Corp
porations Actt 2001. The directors
d
are
e
satisfied tha
not comprom
at the servicces disclosed
d below did n
mise the exte
ernal auditorr’s independence for the
e
following reasons;



All n
non-audit se
ervices are re
eviewed and approved by
y the Directo
ors prior to coommenceme
ent to ensure
e
theyy do not adversely affect the integrityy and objectiv
vity of the auditor; and
The
e nature of th
he services provided do es not comp
promise the general prin ciples relatin
ng to auditorr
inde
ependence in accordance with APES
S 110: Code of Ethics for Professionaal Accountants set by the
e
Acccounting Proffessional and
d Ethical Sta
andards Boarrd.

eview, Grantt Thornton al so provided services in relation
r
to taxxation matters. Details off
During the yyear under re
the amountts paid and payable
p
to th
he auditor off the company, Grant Th
hornton Audiit Pty Ltd an
nd its related
d
entities for audit and non-audit
n
serrvices provid
ded during the
t
year are
e set out in Note 5 to the Financiall
Statements.
This report is made in accordance with
w a resoluttion of the Directors.

D Zukerman
n
DIRECTOR
R
Dated this tw
wenty third day
d of September 2013
Perth, Westtern Australia
a
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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Notes

Revenue
Interest earned

Expenditure
Change in fair value of investments
Impairment of exploration costs
Management fees
Directors’ fees and services
Stock exchange fees
Administration costs
Consulting Fees
Other operating costs
Share based payments
Depreciation expense

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax benefit

4

Profit/(loss) after income tax
Attributable to:
Minority interest
Members of the parent entity

15

Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign
controlled entities
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$

74,509
74,509

87,835
87,835

185,035
743
253,197
65,811
28,119
149,053
164,038
18,374
864,370

259,696
22,178
246,779
89,867
40,171
176,879
123,465
236,960
70,800
49,817
1,316,612

(789,861)

(1,228,777)

(10,945)

(50,126)

(778,916)

(1,178,651)

(778,916)

(1,178,651)

(79,640)

(102,947)

(858,556)

(1,281,598)

(858,556)
(858,556)

(1,281,598)
(1,281,598)

Total Comprehensive Income attributable to:
Minority interest
Members of the parent entity
Total Comprehensive Income

16

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share

Cents
17

(0.10)

Cents
(0.17)

The statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013

Consolidated
Notes

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

7
8

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment
Financial assets
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

9
10
11

TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

12

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Option reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Accumulated losses
PARENT EQUITY INTEREST
Minority interest
TOTAL EQUITY

13
14

15

16

2013
$

2012
$

1,294,625
33,386
1,328,011

2,216,314
75,560
2,291,874

27,552
103,345
5,460,174
5,591,071

49,506
288,379
5,163,431
5,501,316

6,919,082

7,793,190

114,121

129,673

114,121

129,673

114,121
6,804,961

129,673
7,663,517

24,613,601
2,351,206
191,832
(20,351,678)
6,804,961

24,613,601
2,351,206
271,472
(19,572,762)
7,663,517

-

-

6,804,961

7,663,517

The statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

Balance as at 1 July 2011
Loss attributable to members of
parent entity
Total other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year, net
of tax
Total Comprehensive Income

Shares/options issued
Share Issue Costs

Balance as at 30 June 2012
Loss attributable to members of
parent entity
Total other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year, net
of tax
Total Comprehensive Income

Balance as at 30 June 2013

Issued
Capital

Option
Reserve

$

$

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve
$

Accumulated
Losses

Total

$

$

22,126,676

2,280,406

374,419

(18,394,111)

6,387,390

-

-

-

(1,178,651)

(1,178,651)

-

-

(102,947)

-

(102,947)

-

-

(102,947)

(1,178,651)

(1,281,598)

2,512,400

70,800

-

-

2,583,200

(25,475)

-

-

-

(25,475)

24,613,601

2,351,206

271,472

(19,572,762)

7,663,517

-

-

-

(778,916)

(778,916)

-

-

(79,640)

-

(79,640)

-

-

(79,640)

(778,916)

(858,556)

24,613,601

2,351,206

191,832

(20,351,678)

6,804,961

The statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Consolidated
Notes
Cash flow from operating activities
Payments to suppliers
Sundry Income
Interest received
Net cash used in operating activities

18(a)

Cash flow from investing activities
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment
Purchase of plant and equipment
Net cash used in from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

2013
$

2012
$

(661,231)
10,945
102,144
(548,142)

(797,645)
50,126
90,012
(657,507)

(379,754)
3,580
(376,174)

(1,096,916)
(43,862)
(1,140,778)

-

2,374,400
(25,475)
2,348,925

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held

(924,316)

550,640

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

2,216,314

1,659,752

2,627
1,294,625

5,919
2,216,311

Effect of exchange rates on cash holdings in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

7

The statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial report of Metals Australia Ltd and its subsidiaries Karrilea Holdings Pty Ltd and Metals
Namibia (Pty) Ltd (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2013 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the Directors on 23 September 2013.
Metals Australia Ltd is a company incorporated and domiciled in Australia, limited by shares which are
publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are mineral exploration and investment.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting
Interpretations and complies with other requirements of the law, as appropriate for for-profit oriented
entities. The financial report has also been prepared on an accruals basis and on a historical cost basis,
except for financial assets and liabilities, which have been measured at fair value.
The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars.
The financial statements of the Company and Group have been prepared on a going concern basis which
anticipates the ability of the Company and Group to meet its obligations in the normal course of the
business. It is considered that the Company should obtain sufficient funds from capital raising to enable it
to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern then it may be required
to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities, other than in the normal course of business and amounts
different from those stated in the financial statements.
(b) Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).
(c) New and Amended Accounting Standards adopted by the Group
The Group has adopted the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that
became mandatory during the reporting period. This has had no significant impact on the Group’s
accounting policies or the amounts reported during the current or half-year period.
New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Period
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that
have mandatory application dates for future reporting period, some of which are relevant to the Group.
The Group has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements. The Group’s
assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Group but applicable in
future reporting periods is set out below:


AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010).
This standard is mandatorily applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January
2013. However, AASB 2012-6 defers the application date of AASB 9 from 1 January 2013 to 1 January
2015. AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets
and liabilities.
The entity does not have any financial liabilities. Therefore, the Directors do not anticipate that the
adoption of this standard will have any impact on the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The entity does not have any financial liabilities. Therefore, the Directors do not anticipate that the
adoption of this standard will have any impact on the financial statements.


AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities, AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements (August 2011) and AASB
128: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (August 2011) (as amended by AASB 2012-10:
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments),
and AASB 2011-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 10 provides a revised definition of “control” and additional application guidance so that a single
control model will apply to all investees. When adopted, this Standard is not expected to significantly
impact the Group’s financial statements.
AASB 11 requires joint arrangements to be classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint
ventures” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement). When adopted, this Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial
statements.
AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a subsidiary,
joint venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a “structured entity”,
replacing the “special purpose entity: concept currently used in Interpretation 112, and requires specific
disclosures in respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured entities. When adopted, this
Standard will affect disclosures only and therefore is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s
financial statements.


AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 2013 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after
1 January 2013).

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities.
AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on
how to determine fair value when fair value is required or permitted by other Standards.
These Standards are expected to result in more detailed fair value disclosures, but are not expected to
significant impact the amounts recognised in these financial statements.


AASB 2011-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements (applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013).

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key
management personnel (KMP) disclosure requirements by Australia specific paragraphs.
When adopted, these amendments are unlikely to have any significant impact on the financial statements.


AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011-10: Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) (applicable for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).

This Standard introduces a number of changes to presentation and disclosure of a defined benefit plan.
AASB 119 also includes changes to the criteria for determining when termination benefits should be
recognised as obligation.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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AASB Interpretation 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of Surface Mining (applicable for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).

This interpretation clarifies that costs of removing mine waste materials (overburden) to gain access to
mineral ore deposits during the production stage of a mine must be capitalized as inventories under
AASB 102: Inventories if the benefits from stripping activity is realised in the form of inventory produced.
The entity does not operate a surface mine. Therefore, there will be no impact on the financial statements
when this interpretation is first adopted.


AASB 2012-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (application for annual reporting periods commencing on
or after 1 January 2014).

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of
an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including
rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities,
on the entity’s statement of financial position.
When adopted, there will be no impact on the entity as the entity does not have any netting arrangements
in place.


AASB 2012-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements
2009-2011 (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).

These amendments are a consequence of the annual improvement process, which provides a vehicle for
making non-urgent but necessary amendments to Standards.
When these amendments are first adopted, this Standard is not expected to significantly impact the
Group’s financial statements.
(d) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Metals Australia Ltd and its
subsidiaries, Karrilea Holdings Pty Ltd and Metals Namibia (Pty) Ltd ('the Group').
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent
company, using consistent accounting policies.
All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be
recovered.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for
the part of the reporting period during which Metals Australia Ltd has control.
Minority interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately for the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the
date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
(e) Interest in joint venture operation
The Group’s interest in any joint venture operation is accounted for by recognising the Group's assets and
liabilities from the joint venture, as well as expenses incurred by the Group and the Group's share of
income earned from the joint venture, in the consolidated financial statements.
(f) Foreign currency translation
Both the functional and presentation currency of Metals Australia Ltd and its Australian subsidiary is the
Australian Dollar (A$). The functional currency of the Namibian subsidiary is the Namibian Dollar (N$).
Cash remittances from the parent entity to the Namibian subsidiary are sent in Australian dollars and then
converted to Namibian dollars using the applicable rate of exchange. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in the foreign currency are retranslated at the rate of exchange at the reporting date.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
All differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined.
As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of any overseas subsidiaries were translated into the
presentation currency of Metals Australia Ltd at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, and the
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is translated at the weighted average
exchange rates for the period.
The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of
equity.
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income.
(g) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Plant and equipment – over 3 to 5 years
Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the
assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive
income in the period the item is derecognised.
(h) Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is not amortised.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units
expected to benefit from the combination’s synergies.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a non-financial asset may
be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs
to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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(j) Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-tomaturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after
initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial yearend.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. that date
that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally
by regulation or conversion in the market place.
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term with the intention of making a profit.
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
(ii) Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this
classification. Investments that are intended to be held-to maturity, such as bonds, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially
recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the
maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to
the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
(iii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payment that
are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
(iv) Available-for-sale-investments
Available-for-sale-investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified as any of the three preceding categories. After initial
recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised as a separate economic component of equity until the investment is derecognised or
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting
date. For investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation
techniques. Such techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to
the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash
flow analysis and option pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market
data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum.
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Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a
financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a
prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has
arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(k) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of
interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through
the successful development, or sale, of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a
stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in
which the decision to abandon the area is made. When production commences, the accumulated costs
for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of
the economically recoverable reserves.
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and
are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of
mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in
accordance with clauses of the mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of
future costs, current legal requirements and technology on a discounted basis.
Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the
costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to
community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis
that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
(l) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.
An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.
(m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
(n) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income net of any reimbursement.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
finance cost.
(o) Share-based payment transactions
(i) Equity settled transactions:
The Group provides benefits to Directors and consultants of the Group in the form of share-based
payments whereby personnel render services in exchange for shares.
The cost of these equity-settled transactions was measured by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the date on which they were granted. The fair value was determined using
the Black Scholes formula.
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account was taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Metals Australia Ltd (market conditions). The
cost of equity-settled transactions was recognised, together with the corresponding increase in
equity, on the date of grant of the options.
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
(ii) Cash settled transactions:
The Group does not provide benefits to employees in the form of cash-settled share based
payments.
Any cash-settled transactions would be measured initially at fair value at the grant date using the
Black-Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments
were granted. This fair value is expensed over the period until vesting with recognition of a
corresponding liability. The liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date up to and
including the settlement date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
(p) Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
passed to the buyer and can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to
the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.
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(q) Income tax
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:


except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and



in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised:


except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and,



in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(r) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:


where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and



receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority.
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(s) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.
(t) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
(u) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent, divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent,
adjusted for:


the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
that have been recognised as expenses; and



other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result
from the dilution of potential ordinary shares divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(v) Comparatives
Comparatives are reclassified where necessary to be consistent with the current year’s disclosures.
3.

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management continually evaluates judgments, estimates and
assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may
have an impact on the Group. All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be
reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual results may
differ from the judgments, estimates and assumptions. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions
made by management in the preparation of these financial statements are outlined below:
(i)

Significant accounting judgments include:
(a)

Classification of and value of investments
The Group has decided to classify investments in listed securities as “held for trading”
investments and movements in fair value are recognised directly in the Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. The fair value of listed shares has been
determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

(b)

Provision in and loans to subsidiaries
Investments in and loans to subsidiaries are fully provided for until such time as
subsidiaries are in a position to repay loans.

(c) Exploration expenditure
The Group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is
considered likely to be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. While there are
certain areas of interest from which no reserves have been extracted, the directors are of
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the continued belief that such expenditure should not be written off since feasibility
studies in such areas have not yet concluded. Such capitalised expenditure is carried at
the end of the reporting period at $5,460,174.
(ii)

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions include:
(a)

Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with Directors, employees
and consultants by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black Scholes formula,
with the assumptions detailed in note 6. The accounting estimates and assumptions
relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact
expenses and equity.
The Group measure the cost of cash-settled share-based payments at fair value at the
grant date using the Black-Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the instruments were granted.

(b)

Provision for rehabilitation
Where applicable, the Group makes provision for material restoration obligations. The
amount recognised includes the cost of reclamation and site rehabilitation after taking
into account any restoration works which are carried out during exploration. The provision
for rehabilitation costs is determined from an estimate of future costs which may be
incurred in rehabilitating exploration sites.

(c)

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as
well as manufacturers’ warranties (for plant and equipment) and turnover policies (for
motor vehicles). In addition, the condition of assets is assessed at least once per year
and considered against the remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful life are made
when considered necessary.
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4.

Income Tax
Consolidated
2013
2012

$

$

The prima facie tax on profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax is
reconciled to the income tax as follows:
Prima facie tax on profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax at 30%:

(236,958)

(368,633)

60,800

131,379

Deferred tax asset not brought to account

178,432

244,221

Less:
Tax effect of:
Research and development tax offset
Effect of overseas tax rate

(10,945)
(2,274)

(50,126)
(6,967)

Income tax benefit attributable to entity

(10,945)

(50,126)

3,385,277
4,650
3,389,927

3,194,754
4,500
3,199,254

(931,977)

(906,447)

Add:
Tax effect of:
Other non-allowable items

Unrecognised deferred tax assets:
- Tax losses: operating losses
- Temporary differences

Unrecognised Deferred Tax Liabilities
The benefits from Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets will only be obtained if: (i)
(ii)
(iii)

5.

The companies derive future assessable income of a nature and of an amount
sufficient to enable the benefit from the deduction for the losses to be realised;
The companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility purposes
imposed by the Law; and
No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the companies in realising the benefits
from the deductions for the losses.

Auditor’s Remuneration

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
- auditing or reviewing the financial report
- taxation services provided by a related practice of the auditor
Remuneration of other auditors of subsidiaries for:
- auditing or reviewing the financial reports of subsidiaries
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24,575

22,661

5,800
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6.

Interests of Key Management Personnel (KMP)
Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for Details of the remuneration
paid or payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30
June 2013.
The totals of remuneration paid to KMP during the year are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Superannuation
Share-based payments

2013
$

2012
$

164,052
13,938
177,990

402,270
21,323
59,000
482,593

KMP Options and Rights Holdings
The number of options over ordinary shares held by each KMP during the financial year is as follows:
Balance
Granted as
Options Options
1 July 2012 Compensation Exercised Expired

30 June 2013

Other
Balance
changes 30 June 2013
during the
year
-

H S Majteles

-

-

-

-

A Clemen

-

-

-

-

M Scivolo (From 23 July 2012)

-

-

-

-

D Zukerman
N Grafton

-

-

-

-

-

-

250,000

-

-

-

-

250,000

-

-

-

-

-

5,000,000

-

-

-

(5,000,000)

-

5,250,000

-

-

-

(4,975,000)

275,000

V Algar (From October 2012)
K Munro (No longer KMP)
Total

30 June 2012

Balance
1 July 2011

Granted as
Options Options
Compensation Exercised Expired

25,000

25,000

Other
Balance
changes 30 June 2012
during the
year
-

H S Majteles

-

-

-

-

A Clemen

-

-

-

-

D Zukerman
N Grafton

-

-

-

-

350,000

-

-

-

(125,000)

275,000

V Algar

-

-

-

-

-

-

K Munro (No longer KMP)

-

5,000,000

-

-

5,000,000

350,000

5,000,000

-

(125,000)

5,225,000

Total

-
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KMP Shareholdings
The number of ordinary shares in Metals Australia Ltd held by each KMP during the financial year is as
follows:
30 June 2013

H S Majteles
A Clemen

Balance
1 July 2012

Granted as
Compensation

Other
changes
during
the year

Balance
30 June
2013

-

Issued on
exercise of
options
during the
year
-

2,950,000

-

2,950,000

450,010

-

-

(450,010)

-

M Scivolo

-

-

-

-

-

D Zukerman
N Grafton

-

-

-

-

-

350,000

-

-

-

350,000

V Algar

-

-

-

-

-

K Munro (No longer KMP)

-

-

-

-

3,750,010

-

-

(450,010)

3,300,000

Balance
1 July 2011

Granted as
Compensation

Other
changes
during
the year

Balance
30 June
2012

2,950,000

-

Issued on
exercise of
options
during the
year
-

-

2,950,000

450,010

-

-

-

450,010

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total
30 June 2012

H S Majteles
A Clemen
D Zukerman
N Grafton

350,000

K Munro (No longer KMP)

-

-

-

Total

3,400,010

-

-

350,000
3,750,010

There are no retirement schemes for any Directors or any loans or any other type of compensation.
Directors’ fees are paid on a quarterly basis. Consulting fees for professional services are paid as events
occur.
7.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Represented by:

Cash at bank
Bank term deposits *

*

144,625
1,150,000
1,294,625

66,314
2,150,000
2,216,314

Bank deposits are treated as cash and cash equivalents as the funds can be easily accessed for an
insignificant monetary penalty.
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Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
8.

Trade and Other Receivables
Current
Other debtors

9.

33,386

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment, at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

Movement:
Opening written down value
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Closing written down value
10.

75,560

107,386
(79,834)
27,552

194,169
(144,663)
49,506

49,506
(3,580)
(18,374)
27,552

55,461
43,862
(49,817)
49,506

103,345

288,379

5,163,431
296,965
(222)

4,197,560
984,518
(18,647)

5,460,174

5,163,431

Other financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

11.

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Opening balance
Expenditure for the year
Impairment of exploration expenditure

The Company's Australian exploration properties may be subject to claim(s) under native title, or contain
sacred sites or sites of significance to Aboriginal people. As a result exploration properties or areas
within the tenement may be subject to exploration and/or mining restrictions or incur a liability for
compensation. It is not possible to quantify these restrictions and liabilities at this time.
12.

Trade and other Payables
Current
Payables

114,121

Notes to the Financial Statements

129,673

Page No. 34

METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
13.

Issued Capital
The following movement in ordinary share capital of the Company occurred during the last two years.
Date

Details

Number
of Shares

Issue Price
(cents)

Amount
$

1 July 2011

Balance

683,273,765

22,126,676

5 January 2012
20 January 2012
29 February 2012
22 March 2012
22 March 2012
29 March 2012

Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Capital Raising Costs

30 June 2012

Balance

767,926,110

24,613,601

30 June 2013

Balance

767,926,110

24,613,601

5,000,000
29,763,157
19,905,405
1,000,000
28,983,783
-

2.3
1.9
3.7
2.3
3.7
-

115,000
565,500
736,500
23,000
1,072,400
(25,475)

The Company’s capital consists of Ordinary Shares. The Company does not have a limited amount of
authorised share capital. The Shares have no par value and are entitled to participate in dividends and
the proceeds on any winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of Shares held. At
shareholders’ meetings each fully paid ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called,
otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
14.

Share Option Reserve
Date

Details

Number of
Options
163,665,000

Unit Price
(cents)

Amount
$
2,280,406

-

-

1 July 2011

Balance

20 January 2012
29 February 2012

Options granted
Options granted

14,881,579
19,905,405

22 March 2012
22 March 2012

Options granted
Options granted

28,983.783
6,000,000

30 June 2012

Balance

233,435,767

2,351,206

30 June 2013

Balance

233,435,767

2,351,206

-

70,800

There were three classes of options at year end:
(i)

(ii)

163,665,000 options (MLSOA) (which expire on 30 September 2013) with an
exercise price of 2 cents per option. 63,770,767 unlisted options (MLSAI) which
expire on 1 December 2013 with an exercise price of 5 cents per option.
6,000,000 unlisted options (MLSAM) (which expire on 14 November 2013) with an
exercise price of 4 cents per option.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was 0.30 years.
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Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, and to
ensure that the group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern. The group’s debt and
capital includes ordinary share capital, supported by financial assets. There are no externally imposed
capital requirements. Management effectively manages the group’s capital by assessing the group’s
financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the
market. These responses include distributions to shareholders and share issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the
group since the prior year.
15.

Accumulated Losses
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year
Profit/(loss) for year
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year

16.

(19,572,762)
(778,916)
(20,351,678)

(18,394,111)
(1,178,651)
(19,572,762)

Minority Interest
Comprises:
2
2
(2)
(2)
The parent company has taken over the losses of its subsidiaries as there is no firm commitment from the
minority shareholders to provide additional funding to the subsidiary.
Share capital
Accumulated losses

17.

Earnings per Share

Weighted average number of shares on issue during the financial
year used in the calculation of basic earnings per share

Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share – cents
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767,926,110
(0.10)

713,214,938
(0.17)
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18(a). Cashflow Information
Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Operating profit/(loss) after income tax
Non-cash items in profit/(loss)
Share based payments expense
Write back of exploration expenditure
Impairment of Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Revaluation of shares
Options expensed
Depreciation

(778,916)

(1,178,651)

743
185,035
18,374

138,000
22,178
259,696
70,800
49,817

42,174
(15,552)
(548,142)

(17,820)
(1,527)
(657,507)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables
Net cash flows (used in) operating activities
18(b). Non-cash share based payments
No non-cash share based payments were made during the year under review, but the following such
payments were made during the previous year:
(i)

5,000,000 shares were issued to the Company’s barrister in relation to the Namibian court
proceedings relating to the successful outcome of the proceedings,

(ii)

1,000,000 shares and 1,000,000 options (exercisable at 4 cents at any time up to 14
November 2013) were issued to a Namibian employee as an incentive, and

(iii)

5,000,000 options (exercisable at 4 cents at any time up to 14 November 2013) were
issued to the Company’s Exploration Manager as an incentive.
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19.

Financial Instruments
(a) Interest Rate Risk
The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument's
value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted
average interest rates on those financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows:
Floating Interest Rate

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and Receivables
Held for trading investments
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities (at
amortised cost)
Trade and other payables
Net Financial Assets

Non-Interest
Bearing
2013
2012
$
$

2013
$

2012
$

0.00% - 5.50%

0.00% - 6.11%

1,294,625
-

2,216,314
-

33,386
103,345

1,294,625

2,216,314

1,294,625

Total
2013
$

2012
$

75,560
288,379

1,294,625
33,386
103,345

2,216,314
75,560
288,379

136,731

363,939

1,431,356

2,580,253

-

(114,121)

(129,673)

(114,121)

(129,673)

2,216,314

22,610

234,266

1,317,235

2,450,580

Reconciliation of Financial Assets to Net Assets
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Net financial assets
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Plant & equipment

1,317,235
5,460,174
27,552

2,450,580
5,163,431
49,506

Net assets

6,804,961

7,663,517

(b) Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security,
at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of
any provision for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and
notes to the financial report.
The consolidated entity does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor
or group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the consolidated entity.
(c) Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial
statements represent their respective net fair values determined in accordance with the
accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.
(d) Financial Risk Management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with recognised banks,
investments in bank bills up to 90 days, accounts receivable and accounts payable, and
loans to subsidiaries. Liquidity is managed, when sufficient funds are available, by holding
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sufficient funds in a current account to service current obligations and surplus funds invested
in bank bills. The Directors analyse interest rate exposure and evaluate treasury
management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts.
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are the depository
banking institution itself, holding the funds, and interest rates. The Group’s credit risk is
minimal, as being an exploration company, no goods are sold, or services provided, for
which consideration is claimed.
(e) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its
debts or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages
the risk through the following mechanisms:
-

preparing forward looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing
and financing activities;
maintaining a reputable credit profile;
managing credit risk related to financial assets;
only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and comparing the
maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets.

-

(f) Sensitivity Analysis
Interest Rate Risk, Foreign Currency Risk and Price Risk
The group has performed sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and price risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates
the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these
risks.
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2013, the effect on profit/(loss) and equity as a result of changes in the interest
rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows:
Consolidated
2013
$000

2012
$000

Change in profit/(loss)
-

Increase in interest rate by 2%

26

38

-

Decrease in interest rate by 2%

(26)

(38)

Change in equity
-

Increase in interest rate by 2%

26

38

-

Decrease in interest rate by 2%

(26)

(38)

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis
There is minimal foreign currency risk as insignificant balances of foreign currency are held.
Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis
The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.
Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing
of realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows
presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement
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dates and does not reflect management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled
forward.
Consolidated Group

Within 1 Year
2013
$

2012
$

Financial Liabilities - Due for Payment
Trade and other
114,121
payables
Total expected outflows
114,121

1,213,890

2013
$

2012
$

Total
2013
$

2012
$

129,673

-

-

-

-

114,121

129,673

129,673

-

-

-

-

114,121

129,673

-

-

-

-

144,625

66,314

-

-

-

-

1,150,000

2,150,000

Financial Assets - Cash Flows Realisable
Cash and cash
144,625
66,314
equivalents
Bank deposits over 3
1,150,000 2,150,000
months
33,386
75,560
Receivables
Financial assets through
profit or loss
Total anticipated inflows
1,328,011 2,291,874
Net (outflow)/inflow on
financial instruments

Over 5
Years
2013 2012
$
$

1 to 5 Years

2,162,201

-

-

-

-

33,386

75,560

103,345

288,379

-

-

103,345

288,379

103,345

288,379

-

-

1,431,356

2,580,253

103,345

288,379

-

-

1,317,235

2,450,580

Price risk
Price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices largely due to demand and supply factors
for commodities.
The Group is also exposed to securities price risk on investments held for trading or for
medium to longer terms. Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across
industries and geographical locations.
Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value
The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position have
been analysed and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following
levels:
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level
2); and
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

103

-

-

103

103

-

-

103

288

-

-

288

288

-

-

288

Consolidated Group
2013
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:Investments: held for trading

2012
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:Investments: held for trading

Included within Level 1 of the hierarchy are listed investments. The fair values of these financial assets have been based on
the closing quoted bid prices at reporting date, excluding transaction costs.

20.

Investment in controlled entities
Name of Entity

Karrilea Holdings
Pty Ltd
Metals Namibia
(Pty) Ltd
21.

Country of
Incorporation

Class
of
Shares

Equity
Holding
(%)
2013
2012
%
%

Book Value
of Investment
2013
$

Contribution to
Consolidated Result

2012
$

2013
$

Australia

Ordinary

80

80

-

-

Namibia

Ordinary

100

100

-

-

2012
$

(75,809)

(174,178)

Related Parties
The Groups related parties include its subsidiaries, key management and others as described below.
Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no
guarantees were received or given.
Year ended
Year ended
30 June 2013
30 June 2012
Related Party
Karrilea Holdings
Pty Ltd
Metals Namibia
(Pty) Ltd
Karrilea Holdings
Pty Ltd
Metals Namibia
(Pty) Ltd
Sabre Resources
Limited
Golden Deeps
Limited

Subsidiary

Nature Of
Transaction
Exploration
assets
Exploration
assets

Subsidiary

Provisions

(65,347)

(3,250,835)

(229,044)

(3,185,488)

Subsidiary
Common
directorship
Common
directorship

Provisions
Employee
Costs
Employee
Costs

(122,000)

(1,980,905)

(510,492)

(1,858,905)

(41,011)

(3,612)

66,998

(10,023)

(20,404)

(1,729)

59,010

(2,468)

Relationship
Subsidiary

Transaction

Balance

Transaction

Balance

65,347

3,250,835

229,044

3,185,488

122,000

1,980,905

510,492

1,858,905

All transactions with Directors are disclosed in Note 6.
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22.

Operating Segments
Segment Information
Identification of reportable segments
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used
by the Board of Directors (Chief Operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining
the allocation of resources. As the Group is focused on mineral exploration, the Board monitors the
Group based on actual versus budgeted exploration expenditure incurred by area of interest. The internal
reporting framework is the most relevant to assist the Board with making decisions regarding the Group
and its ongoing exploration activities, while also taking into consideration the results of exploration work
that has been performed to date.
The Company is managed on the basis of area of interest. Operating segments are therefore determined
on the same basis.
Segments
The three reportable segments are as follows:
(i)
Western Australian Base Metal Projects;
(ii)
Victorian Gold Projects; and
(iii)
Namibian Uranium Projects.
Basis of Accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments
Accounting Policies Adopted
All amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker with respect to operating
segments are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in
the annual financial statements of the Group.
There are no inter-segment transactions. Segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of their
nature. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and the provision for rehabilitation.
Unallocated items
Corporate costs are not considered core operations of any segment.
Comparative information
This is the first reporting period in which AASB 8: Operating Segments has been adopted. Comparative
information has been restated to conform to the requirements of the Standard.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Page No. 42

METALS AUSTRALIA LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Segment Performance
Western
Australian
Base
Metals
$

2013

Victorian
Gold

Namibian
Uranium

Total

$

$

$

Revenue from external sources
Unallocated - Interest revenue
Unallocated - Gain/(loss) on investments
Total Group Revenue

74,509
(185,035)
(110,526)

Segment Profit/(loss)
Unallocated items - corporate charges
Total Group profit/(loss)
Segment Assets
Unallocated - cash, receivables, plant & equipment
Total Group Assets
Segment Liabilities
Unallocated - corporate trade payables
Total Group Liabilities

(75,809)
(703,107)
(778,916)

3,250,835

226,823

2,085,860

5,563,518
1,355,563
6,919,081

109,221

-

4,900

114,121
114,121

Victorian
Gold

Namibian
Uranium

Total

$

$

$

Western
Australian
Base
Metals
$

2012

(75,809)

Revenue from external sources
Unallocated - Interest revenue
Unallocated - Gain/(loss) on investments
Total Group Revenue
Segment Profit/(loss)
Unallocated items - corporate charges
Total Group profit/(loss)

87,835
(259,696)
(171,861)

-

-

(174,178)

(174,178)
(1,004,473)
(1,178,651)

Segment Assets
Unallocated - cash, receivables, plant & equipment
Total Group Assets
Segment Liabilities
Unallocated - corporate trade payables
Total Group Liabilities

2,805,903

123,557
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180,101

-

2,465,806

5,451,810
2,341,380
7,793,190

6,116

129,673
129,673
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23.

Commitments
(i)

Mining Tenements
As part of ongoing activities, the consolidated entity is required to commit to minimum
expenditures to retain its interest in its mining tenements. Over the next five years this
amounts to $980,100, as follows:

(ii)

Year Ending
30 June

Amount
$

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

298,100
208,000
158,000
158,000
158,000
980,100

Management Agreement
The Company has an agreement with a management service company for the provision of
services at $255,000 per annum plus CPI. Charges are at commercial terms in accordance
with the Deed of Variation of Management Agreement entered into on 18 October 2012 for a
five year term.

24.

Contingent Liabilities
No contingent liability exists for termination benefits under service agreements with directors or
persons who take part in the management of the company. There were no contingent liabilities as at
30 June 2013.

25.

Subsequent Events
On 2 September 2013, the Company placed 50,000,000 shares at 1 cent each to raise $500,000.
These monies will be used to fund the Company’s ongoing exploration, including the drilling program
at its Mile 72 uranium prospect in Namibia, and also to provide additional working capital.
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26.

Parent Entity Information
The following details information related to the parent entity, Metals Australia Ltd, at 30 June 2013.
The information presented here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as shown
in Note 2.
Parent Entity
2013
2012
$
$
ASSETS
Current assets
1,301,375
2,258,754
Non-current assets
1,803,689
1,751,100
TOTAL ASSETS
3,105,064
4,009,854
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

(109,221)
(109,221)

(123,557)
(123,557)

Issued capital
Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

24,613,601
(23,968,964)
644,637

24,613,601
(23,078,510)
1,535,091

RESERVES
Share option reserve
TOTAL RESERVES

2,351,306
2,351,306

EQUITY

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(Loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)

(890,453)
(890,453)

2,351,206
2,351,206

(1,743,689)
(1,743,689)

No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity on behalf of its subsidiary.
No contingent liabilities exist.
No contractual commitments by the parent company exist, other than those for exploration
commitments and Management Agreement fees as set out below.
Year Ending
30 June

Amount
$

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

553,100
463,000
413,000
413,000
413,000
2,255,100
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Metals Australia Ltd

10 Kings Park Road
West Perth WA 6005
PO Box 570
West Perth WA 6872
T +61 8 9480 2000
F +61 8 9322 7787
E info.wa@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Metals Australia Ltd (the
“Company”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2013, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity
comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time
during the financial year.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Act 2001. The Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. The Directors also state, in the notes to the financial report, in accordance with
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
report, whether due to fraud or error.
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the
context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current
scheme applies.
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In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:
a

b

the financial report of Metals Australia Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
i

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30
June 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 3 to 4 of the Directors’ Report
for the year ended 30 June 2013. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of
the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
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Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Metals Australia Ltd for the year ended 30 June
2013, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

J W Vibert
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Perth, 26 September 2013
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of Metals Australia Ltd

10 Kings Park Road
West Perth WA 6005
PO Box 570
West Perth WA 6872
T +61 8 9480 2000
F +61 8 9322 7787
E info.wa@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead
auditor for the audit of Metals Australia Ltd for the year ended, I declare that, to the best of
my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 in relation to the audit; and

b

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the
audit.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

J W Vibert
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Perth, 26 September 2013

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the
context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current
scheme applies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Metals Australia Ltd ACN 008 982 474 ("the Company") has adopted systems of control and
accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance. Some of these
policies and procedures are summarised below.
The following additional information about the Company's corporate governance practices is
set out on the Company's website at www.metalsaustralia.com.au :

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for the following matters:
o

ensuring the Company’s conduct and activities are ethical and carried out for the
benefit of all its stakeholders;

o

development of corporate strategy, implementation of business plans and
performance objectives;

o

reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management, codes of
conduct, internal control system and legal and regulatory compliance;

o

the appointment of the Company’s Corporate Manager, Chief Executive Officer
(or equivalent), Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and other senior
executives;

o

monitoring senior executives’ performance and implementation of strategy;

o

determining appropriate remuneration policies;

o

allocating resources and ensuring appropriate resources are available to
management;

o

approving and monitoring the annual budget, progress of major capital
expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and divestitures; and

o

approving and monitoring financial and other reporting.

Diversity
The Company recognises and respects the value of diversity at all levels of the organisation.
Currently, however, due to the size and scale of the Company’s activities, all managerial and
geological services are provided by the Corporate Manager and the Company has no direct
employees.
When the level of activity permits, the Directors will ensure that women are fairly considered
and the Company’s aim will be to promote a culture which embraces diversity through ongoing
education, succession planning, director and employee selection and recognising that skills
are not gender specific.
As at the date of this report, the Company has no women appointed to the Board, to senior
management, or to the organisation as a whole.

Corporate Governance
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Chairman
The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board and for the efficient organisation and
conduct of the Board’s business. The Chairman should facilitate the effective contribution of
all directors and promote constructive and respectful relations between directors and between
the Board and management of the Company. The Chairman is responsible for briefing
directors on issues arising at Board meetings and is ultimately responsible for communications
with shareholders and arranging Board performance evaluation.

Corporate Manager
The Corporate Manager is responsible for running the affairs of the Company under authority
delegated from the Board. In carrying out its responsibilities the Corporate Manager must
report to the Board in a timely manner and ensure all reports to the Board present a true and
fair view of the Company’s financial condition and operational results.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is responsible for monitoring the extent that Board policy and
procedures are followed, and coordinating the timely completion and despatch of Board
agendas and briefing material. All directors are to have access to the Company Secretary.

Performance Evaluation
The Chairman and/or the Corporate Manager are responsible for reviewing the performance of
each executive at least once every calendar year with reference to the terms of their
employment contract.

Principle 2 - Structure the Board to add value
Composition of the Board
The Company will ensure that the Board will be of a size and composition that is conducive to
making appropriate decisions and be large enough to incorporate a variety of perspectives
and skills, and to represent the best interests of the Company as a whole rather than of
individual shareholders or interest groups. It will not, however, be so large that effective
decision-making is hindered.

Independent Directors
The Company will regularly review whether each non-executive director is independent and
each non-executive director should provide to the Board all information that may be relevant to
this assessment. If a director’s independence status changes this should be disclosed and
explained to the market in a timely fashion.
The Company will endeavour to ensure that it has a majority of independent directors at all
times, subject to the right of shareholders in general meeting to elect and remove directors.

Chairman
The Chairman should be a non-executive director who is independent. The Chairman should
not be the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chairman’s other positions should not
be such that they are likely to hinder the effective performance of his role of Chairman of the
Company.
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Independent decision-making
All directors - whether independent or not - should bring an independent judgment to bear on
Board decisions. Non-executive directors are encouraged to confer regularly without
management present. Their discussions are to be facilitated by the Chairman, if he is
independent, or, if he is not independent, the deputy Chairman. Non-executive directors
should inform the Chairman before accepting any new appointments as directors.

Independent advice
To facilitate independent decision making, the Board and any committees it convenes from
time to time may seek advice from independent experts whenever it is considered appropriate.
With the consent of the Chairman, individual directors may seek independent professional
advice, at the expense of the Company, on any matter connected with the discharge of their
responsibilities.

Procedure for selection of new directors
The Company believes it is not of a size to justify having a Nomination Committee. If any
vacancies arise on the Board, all directors will be involved in the search and recruitment of a
replacement. The Board believes corporate performance is enhanced when it has an
appropriate mix of skills and experienced.
In support of their candidature for directorship or re-election, non-executive directors should
provide the Board with details of other commitments and an indication of time available for the
Company. Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election non-executive directors
should specifically acknowledge to the Company that they will have sufficient time to meet
what is expected of them. Re-appointment of directors is not automatic.

Induction and education
The Board will implement an induction programme to enable new directors to gain an
understanding of:
o

the Company’s financial, strategic, operational and risk management position;

o

the rights, duties and responsibilities of the directors;

o

the roles and responsibilities of senior executives; and

o

the role of any Board committees in operation.

Directors will have reasonable access to continuing education to update and enhance their
skills and knowledge, including education concerning key developments in the Company and
in the industries in which the Company’s business is involved.

Access to information
The Board has the right to obtain all information from within the Company which it needs to
effectively discharge its responsibilities.
Senior executives are required on request from the Board to supply the Board with information
in a form and timeframe, and of a quality that enables the Board to discharge its duties
effectively. Directors are entitled to request additional information where they consider such
information necessary to make informed decisions.
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Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making
Code of conduct
The Board has adopted the Code of Conduct set out at Appendix A to promote ethical and
responsible decision making by directors, management and employees. The Code embraces
the values of honesty, integrity, enterprise, excellence, accountability, justice, independence
and equality of stakeholder opportunity.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that training on the Code of Conduct is provided to staff
and officers of the Company.
The Board is responsible for making advisers, consultants and contractors aware of the
Company’s expectations set out in the Code of Conduct.

Policy for trading in Company securities
The Board has adopted a policy on trading in the Company’s securities by directors, senior
executives and employees set out in Appendix B.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the policy is brought to the attention of all affected
persons and for monitoring compliance with the policy.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Audit and Risk Management
 The Company believes it is not of a size to justify having a separate Audit and Risk
Management Committee. Ultimate responsibility for the integrity of the Company’s
financial reporting rests with the full Board. Given the small size of the Board, the
directors believe an Audit Committee structure to be inefficient. All directors share
responsibility for ensuring the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and
appropriate Board processes must be implemented to perform the following audit and
risk management functions:


external audit function:
o review the overall conduct of the external audit process including the
independence of all parties to the process;
o review the performance of the external auditors;
o consider the reappointment and proposed fees of the external auditor; and
o where appropriate seek tenders for the audit and where a change of external
auditor is recommended arrange submission to shareholders for shareholder
approval;



reviewing the quality and accuracy of published financial reports;



reviewing the accounting function and ongoing application of appropriate accounting
and business policies and procedures;



reviewing and imposing variations to the risk management and internal control policies
designed and implemented by Company management; and



any other matter relevant to audit and risk management processes.
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Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
Disclosure Policy
The Board has adopted a Disclosure Policy for ensuring timely and accurate disclosure of
price-sensitive information to shareholders through the ASX set out in Appendix D.
The Disclosure Policy ensures that:
 all investors have equal and timely access to material information concerning the
Company including its financial position, performance, ownership and governance;
and
 Company announcements are subjected to a vetting and authorisation process
designed to ensure they:
o

are released in a timely manner;

o

are factual;

o

do not omit material information; and

o

are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows investors to assess the
impact of the information when making investment decisions.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders
Communication with Shareholders
The Board is committed to open and accessible communication with holders of the Company’s
shares and other securities. Disclosure of information and other communication will be made
as appropriate by telephone, mail or email.

The Company’s website will also be used to provide additional relevant information to security
holders. The Board considers the following to be appropriate features for the Company’s
website:
o

placing the full text of notices of meeting and explanatory material on the website;

o

providing information about the last three years’ press releases
announcements plus at least three years of financial data on the website; and

o

providing information updates to security holders on request by email.

or

General Meetings
The Company is committed to improving shareholder participation in general meetings. In
order to achieve that objective, the Company has adopted guidelines of the ASX Corporate
Governance Council for improving shareholder participation through the design and content of
notices and through the conduct of the meeting itself.
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Creation and implementation of Company risk management policies
It is the responsibility of the Corporate Manager to create, maintain and implement risk
management and internal control policies for the Company, subject to review by the Board.
The Corporate Manager must report to the Board on an annual basis regarding the design,
implementation and progress of the risk management policies and internal control systems.

Audit and Risk Management
As referenced with respect to Principle 4, the Board has not established an Audit and Risk
Management Committee for the reasons given above.

Review by the Board
The Board will review the effectiveness of implementation of the risk management system and
internal control system at least annually.
When reviewing risk management policies and internal control system the Board should take
into account the Company’s legal obligations and should also consider the reasonable
expectations of the Company’s stakeholders, including security holders, employees,
customers, suppliers, creditors, consumers and the community.

Corporate Manager
The Corporate Manager is required annually to state in writing to the Board that the Company
has a sound system of risk management, that internal compliance and control systems are in
place to ensure the implementation of Board policies, and that those systems are operating
efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

Verification of financial reports
The Corporate Manager and Chief Financial Officer are required by the Company to state the
following in writing prior to the Board making a solvency declaration pursuant to section 295(4)
of the Corporations Act:
that the Company’s financial reports contain a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the
financial condition and operating performance of the Company and comply with relevant
accounting standards; and
o

that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations
Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and that the system is
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
Director and senior executive remuneration policies
The Company’s remuneration policy is structured for the purpose of:
o

motivating senior executives to pursue the long-term growth and success of the
Company; and

o

demonstrating a clear relationship between senior executives’ performance and
remuneration.
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The Board’s responsibility is to set the level and structure of remuneration for officers
(including but not limited to directors and secretaries) and executives, for the purpose of
balancing the Company’s competing interests of:
o

attracting and retaining senior executives and directors; and

o

not paying excessive remuneration.

Executive directors’ remuneration should be structured to reflect short and long-term
performance objectives appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and goals.
Executive directors’ and senior executives’ remuneration packages should involve a balance
between fixed and incentive-based pay, reflecting short and long-term performance objectives
appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and goals.
Non-executive directors’ remuneration should be formulated with regard to the following
guidelines:
o

non-executive directors should normally be remunerated by way of fees, in the
form of cash, non-cash benefits, superannuation contributions or equity, usually
without participating in schemes designed for the remuneration of executives;

o

non-executive directors should not be provided with retirement benefits other than
superannuation.

No director may be involved in setting their own remuneration or terms and conditions and in
such a case relevant directors are required to be absent from the full Board discussion.

Remuneration Committee
The Company believes it is not of a size to justify having a Remuneration Committee and that
it has Board processes in place which raise the issues which would otherwise be considered
by a committee.
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Appendix A – Code of Conduct
Introduction
This Code of Conduct sets out the standards with which the Board, management and
employees of the Company are encouraged to comply when dealing with each other, the
Company’s shareholders and the broader community.

Responsibility to shareholders
The Company aims:
o

to increase shareholder value within an appropriate framework which safeguards
the rights and interests of shareholders; and

o

to comply, with openness and integrity, the systems of control and accountability
which the Company has in place as part of its corporate governance.

Responsibility to clients, employees, suppliers, creditors, customers and
consumers
The Company will comply with all legislative and common law requirements which affect its
business.

Employment practices
The Company will employ the best available staff with the skills required to carry out the role for
which they are employed. The Company will ensure a safe workplace and maintain proper
occupational health and safety practices.

Responsibility to the community
The Company recognises, considers and respects environmental, native title and cultural
heritage issues which may arise in relation to the Company’s activities and will comply with all
applicable legal requirements.

Responsibility to the individual
The Company recognises and respects the rights of individuals and will comply with applicable
laws regarding privacy and confidential information.

Obligations relative to fair trading and dealing
The Company will deal with others in a way that is fair and will not engage in deceptive
practices.

Business courtesies,
commissions

bribes,

facilitation

payments,

inducements

and

Corrupt practices are unacceptable to the Company. It is prohibited for the Company or its
directors, managers or employees to directly or indirectly offer, pay, solicit or accept bribes or
any other corrupt arrangements.

Conflicts of interest
The Board, management and employees must report any situations where there is a real or
apparent conflict of interest between them as individuals and the interests of the Company.
Where a real or apparent conflict of interest arises, the matter must be brought to the attention
of the Chairman in the case of a Board member, the Corporate Manager in the case of a
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member of management and a supervisor in the case of an employee, so that it may be
considered and dealt with in an appropriate manner.

Compliance with the Code of Conduct
Any breach of compliance with this Code of Conduct is to be reported directly to the Chairman.

Periodic review of Code
The Company will monitor compliance with this Code of Conduct periodically by liaising with the
Board, management and staff. Suggestions for improvements or amendments to this Code of
Conduct can be made at any time to the Chairman.
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Appendix B – Policy for trading in Company securities
Introduction
The Company recognises and enforces legal and ethical restrictions on trading in its securities by relevant
persons within and external to the Company. The terms of this securities dealing policy apply to the
Company’s directors, Corporate Manager, senior executives, employees and consultants (Relevant
Persons).

Communication
This policy will be communicated to all Relevant Persons and will be placed on the Company website.

Trading restrictions
Trading by Relevant Persons in the Company’s securities is subject to the following limitations:
o

No trading in Company securities shall take place during the two weeks preceding release of
each quarterly report, half-yearly financial report, and annual financial report of the Company.

o

No trading in the Company’s securities shall take place, directly or indirectly, where it is known,
or ought reasonably to have been known by the person intending to trade, that information
exists which has not been released to the ASX and where that information is of a type that could
reasonably be expected to encourage buying or selling were that information known by others.

o

No trading shall take place in Company securities unless prior notice is given to the Chairman
[and approval is obtained from the Chairman].

Hardship
During a period specified in paragraph o, Relevant Persons may, after obtaining the Chairman’s consent,
trade the Company’s securities to the extent reasonably necessary to avoid or ameliorate documented
hardship and suffering or as required by other extenuating circumstances.

Directors’ trading and disclosures
Within twenty four hours of a director being appointed to the Board, resigning or being removed from the
Board, or trading in the Company’s securities, full details of the director’s notifiable interests in the
Company’s securities and changes in such interest must be advised to the Company Secretary so that a
record is kept within the Company and so that necessary ASX notifications will occur.
All directors must notify the Company Secretary of any margin loan or similar funding arrangement entered
into in relation to the Company’s securities and any variations to such arrangements, including the number of
securities involved, the circumstances in which the lender can make margin calls, and the right of the lender
to dispose of securities.
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Appendix C - Disclosure Policy
Disclosure requirements
The Company recognises its obligations pursuant to the continuous disclosure rules of the ASX Listing Rules
and the Corporations Act to keep the market fully informed of information which may have a material effect
on the price or value of the Company’s securities.
Subject to certain exceptions (in ASX Listing Rule 3.1A), the Company is required to immediately release to
the market information that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value
of the Company’s securities.

Responsibilities of directors officers and employees
The Board as a whole is primarily responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with its disclosure
obligations and for deciding what information will be disclosed. Subject to delegation, the Board is also
responsible for authorising all ASX announcements and responses of the Company to ASX queries.
Every director, officer and employee of the Company is to be informed of the requirements of this policy and
must advise the Corporate Manager, Chairman or Company Secretary as soon as possible (and prior to
disclosure to anyone else) of matters which they believe may be required to be disclosed.

Authorised Disclosure Officer
The Board has delegated its primary responsibilities to communicate with ASX to the following Authorised
Disclosure Officer:
o

the Company Secretary or

o

in the absence of the Company Secretary, the Corporate Manager is authorised to act in that
capacity by the Board.

Responsibilities of Authorised Disclosure Officer
Subject to Board intervention on a particular matter, the Authorised Disclosure Officer is responsible for the
following:
o

monitoring information required to be disclosed to ASX and coordinating the Company’s
compliance with its disclosure obligations;

o

ASX communication on behalf of the Company, authorising Company announcements and
lodging documents with ASX;

o

requesting a trading halt in order to prevent or correct a false market;

o

providing education on these disclosure policies to the Company’s directors, officers and
employees; and

o

ensuring there are vetting and authorisation processes designed to ensure that Company
announcements:
o

are made in a timely manner;

o

are factual;

o

do not omit material information;

o

are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows investors to assess the impact
of the information when making investment decisions.

An Authorised Disclosure Officer, who is responsible for providing contact details and other information to
ASX to ensure such availability, must be available to communicate with the ASX at all reasonable times.
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Measures to avoid a false market
In the event that ASX requests information from the Company in order to correct or prevent a false market in
the Company’s securities, the Company will comply with that request. The extent of information to be
provided by the Company will depend on the circumstances of the ASX request.
If the Company is unable to give sufficient information to the ASX to correct or prevent a false market, the
Company will request a trading halt.
If the full Board is available to consider the decision of whether to call a trading halt, only they may authorise
it, but otherwise, the Authorised Disclosure Officer may do so.

ASX announcements
Company announcements of price sensitive information are subjected to the following vetting and
authorisation process to ensure their clarity, timely release, factual accuracy and inclusion of all material
information:
o

The Authorised Disclosure Officer must prepare ASX announcements when required to fulfil the
Company’s disclosure obligations.

o

Proposed announcements must be approved by the Corporate Manager or in his absence,
urgent announcements may be approved by any other person expressly authorised by the
Board.

o

Announcements must first be released to the ASX Announcements Platform before being
disclosed to any other private or public party (such as the media). After release of the
announcement, it must be displayed on the Company’s website, following which the Company
can then release such information to media and other information outlets.

o

Wherever practical, all announcements must be provided to the directors, Corporate Manager
and Company Secretary prior to release to the market for approval and comment.

Confidentiality and unauthorised disclosure
The Company must safeguard the confidentiality of information which a reasonable person would expect to
have a material effect on the price or value of the Company’s securities. If such information is inadvertently
disclosed, the Authorised Disclosure Officer must be informed of the same and must refer it to the Chairman
and Corporate Manager as soon as possible.

External communications and media relations
The Chairman, Corporate Manager and Company Secretary are authorised to communicate on behalf of the
Company with the media, government and regulatory authorities, stock brokers, analysts and other
interested parties or the public at large. No other person may do so unless specifically authorised by the
Chairman or the Corporate Manager.
All requests for information from the Company must be referred to the Authorised Disclosure Officer for
provision to the Chairman and the Corporate Manager.

Breach of Disclosure Policy
Serious breaches of the Company’s Disclosure Policy may be treated with disciplinary action, including
dismissal, at the discretion of the Board.
Where the breach is alleged against a member of the Board, that director will be excluded from the Board’s
consideration of the breach.
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Additional information included in accordance with listing requirements of the Australian Securities Exchange
Limited.
1.

SHAREHOLDERS
(a)

As at 19 September 2013 the distribution of members and their shareholdings were:Range of Holding
1 1,000
1,001 5,000
5,001 10,000
10,001 100,000
100,001 and over

Holders
97
279
382
1,428
744
2,930

Shares Held
58,306
949,497
3,286,540
63,802,046
749,829,721
817,926,110

Percent
0.01
0.12
0.40
7.80
91.67
100.00

(b)

There exist 1,232 shareholders with unmarketable parcels of shares.

(c)

The twenty largest shareholders as at 19 September 2013 which represents 46.01% of the paid
up capital were as follows:

Name of Holder
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Ltd
AI Opportunity Fund
Pan Pacific Mining Pty Ltd
Temmedo Pty Ltd
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd
Doyle Family Superannuation Fund
I-CAN Limited
Pio Services Limited
L C Asia Limited
Philip Hamlyn
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Pty Ltd
Bassam Haddad
W D & M N Christman
Salvatore Danze
Paul Arsenis
Alban R Hasslinger
Zuvela Super Fund
Evangelos Kalafatas
Judith Sullivan
National Nominees Limited

(d)

Number
95,816,605
50,000,000
35,000,000
27,880,000
26,062,700
22,036,406
17,000,000
15,057,000
12,720,000
11,200,000
10,296,583
8,000,000
7,050,000
6,812,329
6,750,000
6,180,000
5,000,000
4,943,298
4,301,351
4,215,693

Percent
11.72
6.11
4.28
3.41
3.19
2.69
2.08
1.84
1.56
1.37
1.26
0.98
0.86
0.83
0.83
0.76
0.61
0.60
0.53
0.52

376,321,965

46.01

Substantial Shareholders
The names of the substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with
Section 671B of the Corporation Act 2001 are:
Name
AI Opportunity Fund

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Percentage
of Issued Capital

50,000,000

6.11%
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2.

OPTIONHOLDERS
(a)

As at 19 September 2013, there are 44 holders of listed options which are exercisable at 2
cents up to their expiry date of 30 September 2013.

(b)

The twenty largest holders of listed options as at 19 September 2013 were as follows:

Name of Holder
Colbern Fiduciary Nominees Pty Ltd
Robyn Clemen
Michael Hobbs
Benjay Pty Ltd
Brendon Deshon
National Nominees Limited
Judith Sullivan
Glenn Gibb
David Clark
Bruce Stewart
Bennett & Bennett Pty Ltd
Brenton Fone
Bluebase Pty Ltd
Willem & Hettie van Wyk
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
Matthew Painter & Julie Jones
Sharin Grafton
Gillian Arkwright
Jadel Pty Ltd
Coniston Pty Ltd

Number
140,650,000
5,000,000
3,000,000
2,345,000
2,000,000
1,750,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
890,000
850,000
700,000
660,000
500,000
500,000
350,000
225,000
200,000
100,000
100,000

%
85.94
3.06
1.83
1.43
1.22
1.07
0.61
0.61
0.61
0.54
0.52
0.43
0.40
0.31
0.31
0.21
0.14
0.12
0.06
0.06

162,820,000

99.48

(c) There exist 29 optionholders with unmarketable parcels of options.
(d) There are also three classes of unlisted options:
(i) 63,770,767 options, held by 16 holders, exercisable at 5 cents each at any time up to their
maturity on 1 December 2013, and
(ii) 6,000,000 options, held by 2 holders, exercisable at 4 cents each at any time up to their
maturity on 14 November 2013, and

(iii) 50,000,000 options, held by 1 holder, exercisable at 2 cents each at any time up to their
maturity on 31 August 2016.
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